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STATE OF ILLINOIS 
 

ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION 
 
 
Illinois Commerce Commission   ) 
On Its Own Motion     ) 

v.      ) 
The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company  ) 05-0341 
       ) 
Citation for alleged violation of Commission  ) 
rules regarding leakage surveys.   ) 
 

 
INITIAL BRIEF OF 

THE PEOPLES GAS LIGHT AND COKE COMPANY
 

Pursuant to Section 200.800 of the Illinois Commerce Commission’s 

(“Commission”) Rules of Practice (83 Ill. Admin. Code §200.800) and the schedule 

established by the Administrative Law Judge, The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company 

(“Peoples Gas” or the “Company”) submits its Initial Brief in the above-captioned 

proceeding. 

INTRODUCTION 

This case arises from a citation order issued in June, 2005 based upon Staff’s 

position that Peoples Gas was not in compliance with 49 C.F.R. §192.723(b)(2) (“Section 

192.723(b)(2)”), the regulation governing leakage surveys, which are known as inside 

safety inspections (ISIs) or residential ISIs (RISIs). Under Section 192.723(b)(2), inside 

service pipes must be inspected at least once every five calendar years at intervals not 

exceeding 63 months.  (Tr. 16;1 Resp. Ex. A at 2-3; ICC Staff Ex. 1.0 at 5.)  In this 

matter, Staff seeks a maximum penalty of $1 million. 

                                            
1 References to “Tr.” are to the November 8, 2005 evidentiary hearing in this matter.  
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Significantly, under Section 7(b) of the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act, 220 ILCS 

20/7(b), even where there is non-compliance with Section 192.723(b)(2), the imposition 

of a civil penalty is not mandatory.  Whether a penalty should be assessed, as well as the 

amount, must be based upon, inter alia, “the gravity of the violation and the good faith of 

the person charged in attempting to achieve compliance, after notice of the violation.” 

220 ILCS 20/7(b).2    

As discussed below, the gravity of the harm in this case is limited because 

Peoples Gas’ failure to perform ISIs according to Section 192.723(b)(2)’s timetable does 

not pose a serious safety threat.  Further, since December 1999, when Peoples Gas was 

notified of a violation, it has engaged in a variety of efforts and combinations of methods 

to perform the requisite ISIs, which demonstrates its good faith.  Moreover, Peoples Gas’ 

efforts ultimately have been successful, limited only by the reality that ISIs require access 

to customers’ homes and, short of service termination, some customers will not permit 

access no matter how hard Peoples Gas tries.   

Under these circumstances, the imposition of any penalty, let alone the maximum 

penalty of $1 million, is unwarranted.  Moreover, given Peoples Gas’ efforts to achieve 

compliance, the imposition of a penalty would be unfair.  Finally, given that no utility in 

this state, or any state, apparently has been penalized for failure to conduct residential gas 

leakage surveys, this proceeding is unprecedented.  This, too, militates against granting 

Staff the relief that it seeks. 

                                            
2 Under Section 7(b) of the Pipeline Act, 220 ILCS 20/7(b), the third criterion in determining whether to 
assess a civil penalty and the amount thereof is the size of the business to be charged. This criterion is not 
at issue here.  Peoples Gas agrees that it is a large gas distribution company and that the size of the 
proposed penalty, if it were justified based on the other relevant criteria, would not be disproportionate to 
its size. 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 Of the 503,614 service lines in Peoples Gas’ territory, 364,970 involve inside 

meters with inside service pipe leading to these meters.  (Staff Ex. 1.0 at 5.)  The only 

other Illinois utility with a significant number of inside meters is Nicor Gas, which has 

approximately 257,000 or nearly one-third fewer inside meters than Peoples Gas.  (Tr. 

41-42.)   

To comply with Section 192.723(b)(2), Peoples Gas must gain access to the inside 

pipes.  Access only can be obtained if Peoples Gas’ customers consent to entry into their 

homes.  (Resp. Ex. A at 3; Resp Ex. C at 3, 7.)  In the absence of consent, Peoples Gas 

has no way of obtaining the access to the service pipes that is necessary to perform the 

ISIs.  Peoples Gas faces this obstacle even though its rate schedule requires its customers 

to provide “free access to the premises of the customer for the purpose of…inspection of 

metering equipment, service pipe and all other equipment relating to the Company’s 

service.”  (Peoples Gas’ Schedule of Rates, Ill. C. C. No. 27, Second Revised Page No. 

24). 

In December 1999, Peoples Gas first was informed of Staff’s belief that Peoples 

Gas was not in compliance with Section 192.723(b)(2)’s requirements to perform ISIs.  

In January 2000, Staff officially notified Peoples Gas of this noncompliance.  (ICC Staff 

Ex. 1.0 at 5.)  Following notification, Peoples Gas promptly took action designed to 

rectify the noncompliance identified by Staff.  (See Resp. Ex. C at 3-7.)  Unfortunately, 

Peoples Gas’ initial efforts to achieve compliance did not yield the results both desired 

and expected by Peoples Gas and Staff.  Unsurprisingly, the greatest obstacle to Peoples 
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Gas’ ability to perform the number of inspections required by Section 192.723(b)(2) was 

its inability to obtain access to its customers’ homes.   

Faced with this obstacle, for the past five years Peoples Gas has used a variety of 

methods to obtain access to its customers’ inside piping.  (Id.)  Along the way, Staff was 

apprised as to Peoples Gas’ efforts, which were ever evolving and increasing, to obtain 

compliance.  (Id.; Tr. 36-37)  At no time since 2000 when it was notified, has Peoples 

Gas failed to take action or search for ways to comply with Section 192.723(b)(2).  

(Resp. Ex. C at 3-7.)   

Over the course of time, both through trial and error and increasing its resources 

and efforts, Peoples Gas successfully has reduced the number of due and past due ISIs. 

Specifically, at the beginning of calendar year 2005, there were approximately 88,000 

past due ISIs and 43,000 ISIs due during calendar year 2005.  (Staff Ex. 1.0 at Ex. D.)  

By the end of calendar year 2005 only (approximately) 10,000 ISIs will be outstanding.  

(Resp. Ex. 1.)3  

By the end of calendar year 2005, therefore, only the de minimis amount of about 

2.7% of Peoples Gas’ inside services will not have been inspected as required by Section 

192.723(b)(2).  (Id.)  Given the virtual impossibility that Peoples Gas ever will be able to 

gain 100% access to its customers’ homes, as a practical matter, its efforts should be 

viewed positively.4   

                                            
3 Respondent Exhibit No. 1 is a supplemental exhibit filed on the same date as the Initial Brief with the 
leave of the Administrative Law Judge (see Tr. 50) which updates the status of Peoples Gas’ inside 
inspections as of December 4, 2005. 
4 At the November 8, 2005 evidentiary hearing, Staff witness Mr. Evans testified that when Staff certifies 
that a utility is in compliance with Section 192.723(b)(2), this means that the utility met the “minimum 
requirements,” as set forth by applicable law.  (Tr. 39-40.)  Mr. Evans stated that this certification does not 
mean that the utility is 100% compliant with Section 192.723(b)(2) because “we don’t certify anyone as in 
100 per cent compliance.”  (Tr. 40.)  See pp. 10-11, infra.  
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 The Evolving and Increasing Efforts to Obtain ISI Compliance 

In 2000, shortly after Staff first notified Peoples Gas about ISIs, Peoples Gas 

sought to combine its efforts to conduct ISIs with its installation of an automated meter 

reading (“AMR”) system throughout the service territory.  While on site to install the 

AMR system, Peoples Gas employees conducted any ISIs due or past due at those 

locations.  This resulted in progress on ISI completions. (Resp. Ex. C at 3-4.)   

During 2000, Peoples Gas also used a combination of cold calls and appointments 

in an attempt to conduct outstanding ISIs.  If customers did not answer their doors when 

Peoples Gas employees made unscheduled visits to their premises (because the customers 

were not home or refused to come to the door), cards were left on the customers’ doors 

directing them to call and schedule appointments.  (Id. at 4.)  A workforce of about 30 

meter readers was assigned to this task.  (Id.)  In the last half of 2000, Peoples Gas also 

initiated a pilot test program of sending two non-threatening letters to customers 

requesting their cooperation in scheduling ISIs.  Unfortunately, this pilot test resulted in 

less than a 35% response rate from customers, which was significantly less than Peoples 

Gas expected.  (Id.)  In 2000, 28,333 due and past due ISIs were performed.  (Id.) 

In 2001, Peoples Gas continued its two non-threatening letter mailing campaign to 

27,000 customers, which resulted in approximately 17,000 responses.  (Id.)  Despite this 

good response rate, Peoples Gas sought to increase the campaign’s effectiveness.  As a 

result, following discussions with Staff, Peoples Gas proposed a new three letter ISI 

program as part of a tariff revision filed with the Commission for its approval.  The 

proposed tariff revision authorized Peoples Gas to discontinue service if access to 
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complete an ISI was denied.  (Id.)  In 2001, 35,735 due and past due ISIs were 

performed.  (Id. at 4-5.) 

In 2002, still unsatisfied with the results of its prior efforts, Peoples Gas tried a 

new approach.  Specifically, Peoples Gas assigned about 300 regular field service crews 

to perform ISIs along with other customer service work.  In addition, cold calls were 

attempted in square mile sweeps.  Also, on February 2, 2002, the Commission approved 

Peoples Gas’ application to disconnect service to customers who failed to provide access 

to their premises to perform ISIs.  (Resp. Ex. A at 5.)   

In 2002, therefore, Peoples Gas began using the three-letter campaign.  The thrust 

of this campaign was to:  (a) alert customers when Peoples Gas would be in their 

neighborhoods to complete ISIs, (b) schedule ISI appointments for customers not reached 

by cold calling, and (c) warn customers about the possibility of disconnection if they 

refused access to their premises.  (Id. at 5-6; Resp. Ex. C at 5.)  Despite these efforts, in 

2002 the number of due and past due ISIs performed was 20,676.  (Resp. Ex. C at 4-5.) 

Peoples Gas recognized that, despite its best efforts, it was not performing a 

sufficient number of ISIs to achieve compliance with Section 192.723(b)(2).  As a result, 

in 2003, Peoples Gas modified its approach.  Specifically, Peoples Gas consolidated 

meter changes, AMR installations and ISIs by square miles.  Each square mile was cold 

called and a posting, including a telephone number to schedule an appointment, was left 

at each non-responding home.  Peoples Gas also continued to use the three-letter 

campaign.  The number of due and past due ISIs completed in 2003 rose to 25,165.  (Id. 

at 5.)  
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Given that the number of ISIs being performed still was insufficient to achieve 

compliance, in 2004 Peoples Gas tried yet another approach. Specifically, Peoples Gas 

overlaid ISIs with collection activity, consecutively estimated accounts, and meter 

changes.  In addition, Peoples Gas continued to use cold calls, postings for appointment 

solicitation and the three-letter campaign.  Further, Peoples Gas assigned regular field 

service crews to conduct meter changes and collection activity.  It assigned its meter 

reading crews to work on ISIs and consecutively estimated accounts.  To complete the 

project, approximately 30 full time employees and 22 temporary summer employees were 

assigned to meter reading crews.  (Id. at 5-6.)  In 2004, the number of completed due and 

past due ISIs increased to 52,297.  (Id. at 6.) 

Still unsatisfied with the results of its efforts, in 2005, through a team of customer 

service, operational and communications personnel, Peoples Gas reorganized and 

developed new approaches to ISIs.  For example, one successful idea was putting notices 

on red disconnection paper to get customers’ attention.  Additionally, Peoples Gas used 

more extensive outreach efforts, including an ISI news article in its bill insert publication, 

a targeted ISI bill insert, and coordination with the City of Chicago Department on Aging 

to help reach seniors.  Further, Peoples Gas instituted a four-phase communication 

program that included an ISI solicitation letter, two notices of risk of disconnection with 

live outbound calling, and a final notice of disconnection sent by certified mail.  To 

accomplish these programs, Peoples Gas used a dedicated workforce of 21 Operations 

Apprentices with up to 50 additional field service employees, as needed.  (Id. at 6-7; 

Resp. Ex. A at 4.)  As of December 4, 2005, Peoples Gas completed 116,900 due and 

past due ISIs.  (Resp. Ex. 1.) 
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To further its compliance efforts, in 2005, Peoples Gas filed an application with 

the Commission requesting permission to assess a $200 refundable penalty against 

customers who refused repeated requests for appointments to conduct ISIs.  Peoples Gas 

requested this refundable penalty to pressure recalcitrant customers to complete ISIs 

without resorting to the draconian step of disconnecting gas service (which Peoples Gas 

had been reluctant to do).  In Peoples Gas’ view, the ability to assess a refundable penalty 

would cause customer compliance and, unlike disconnection, easily could be reversed 

(i.e., refunded) after access was allowed.  (See Resp. Ex. A at 5.)  On August 25, 2005, 

however, the Commission rejected this application.  (Resp. Ex. B at 4.) 

By the end of calendar year 2005, only approximately 10,000 ISIs are expected to 

remain due or past due.  (Resp. Ex. 1.)  Significantly, Peoples Gas has contacted each of 

these 10,000 customers at least five times – through three solicitation letters, a bill insert, 

and at least one phone message.  Nonetheless, these customers have refused  Peoples Gas 

access to their homes to perform ISIs.  (Resp. Ex. B at 8.) 

 While ISIs Are Important, Inside Piping Owned by Peoples Gas 
Poses Only a Minimal Safety Risk 
 
The inside inspections required by Section 192.723(b)(2) cover only the inside 

service piping owned by Peoples Gas, not all of the gas piping inside a customer’s 

premises.  (See Resp. Ex. C at 2; Tr. 23-25.)  In general, the inside service piping leading 

to the gas meter is less than three feet in length, whereas a premises typically contains 

many more feet of customer-owned piping downstream of the meter.  (Id.)  Accordingly, 

while important, the ISIs cover only one small aspect of inside piping and address only a 

small portion of possible leak problems associated with inside piping.  (Id.)   Regarding 
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the federal inspection requirements for the outside portion of all service pipes and meters, 

Peoples Gas is in compliance.  (Resp. Ex. A at 3.) 

Significantly, apart from the ISI program, in the past five years Peoples Gas has 

responded to more than 338,000 inside emergency calls from customers smelling natural 

gas in their homes.  (Resp. Ex. B at 2.)  In contrast, in all of the ISIs conducted since 

January 2000, Peoples Gas has found evidence of gas leaks in less than 0.6% of those 

inspections; most of those were minor leaks detectable with instruments only.  (Id.) 

Further, major leaks typically are not associated with inside service piping. Inside 

piping, as opposed to outside piping, generally is not exposed to corrosive elements.  

(Resp. Ex. C at 2.)  Moreover, other safeguards provide year-round protection, such as 

the odorant added to natural gas that allows customers to detect gas even small gas leaks.  

(Resp. Ex. B at 2-3.)   

Of the 87,000 past due ISIs listed in Staff’s May 20, 2005 Report that was the 

basis for the Commission’s citation order, each of these service pipes was inspected at the 

time it was installed.  Further, 95% of these service pipes had been inspected at least once 

since being installed.  (Resp. Ex. A at 7.) 

As Peoples Gas’ witness Mr. Doerk testified, ISIs do not significantly reduce risks 

associated with inside gas piping leaks.  (Resp. Ex. C at 2.)  Indeed, Staff witness Mr. 

Evans acknowledged that the failure to perform an ISI does not pose a safety threat; 

rather, without an ISI, there only is the “risk that there is a possible safety hazard.”  (Tr. 

46-47, emphasis added.)  As a result, Mr. Evans advocated that service be discontinued 

for failure to allow ISIs only in the summer months.  In his view, disconnection will force 
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customers to allow access; it is not a method to prevent a “known safety threat.”  (Id. at 

45-47.) 

While 100% Compliance Is Desirable, It Is Impractical 
to Accomplish at One Particular Time  
 
There should be little dispute that Peoples Gas is at its customers’ mercy to allow 

access to complete ISIs.  (Resp. Ex. C at 3; Tr. 47.)  Under these circumstances, it is 

impractical to expect a utility with significant numbers of inside meters and service 

piping, such as Peoples Gas, to be able to achieve 100% compliance with Section 

192.723(b)(2).    

Further, given the number of notices and attempts to obtain the cooperation of the 

10,000 customers for whom ISIs will remain outstanding at the end of calendar year 2005 

(see Resp. Ex. 1), the only way that Peoples Gas could achieve complete compliance with 

Section 192.723(b)(2) would be to disconnect those customers’ service.  While Staff 

advocates disconnections to create an incentive to allow ISIs to be conducted (and in 

2005 Peoples Gas began to disconnect customers), even Staff acknowledges that there are 

limitations upon how and when disconnections can be done.  (Tr. 47; Resp. Ex. C at 8.)   

Not the least of these limitations upon disconnections, of course, is that Staff 

believes that disconnections should not be performed for ISI reasons except during the 

summer months.  (Tr. 46-48.)  As a result, even if the failure to allow access for ISIs was 

an appropriate basis for disconnecting service to over 10,000 customers, Peoples Gas 

could not achieve 100% compliance (through disconnections) prior to the Summer of 

2006. 

Moreover, Staff witness Mr. Evans’ hearing testimony established that 

“compliance” with Section 192.723(b)(2) does not mean that 100% of all required ISIs 
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have been performed.  (See Tr. 35-40.)  Mr. Evans admitted that a “satisfactory” mark 

checked on an evaluation form by Staff when conducting a review of a utility’s records 

does not mean that the utility is 100% compliant with Section 192.723(b)(2).  (Tr. 38, 

40.)   For example, Staff may consider a utility compliant if it has set a reasonable 

schedule for meeting “minimum requirements” and complies with the schedule.  (Tr. 39.)  

Alternatively, Staff and a utility may enter into a “compliance agreement” whereby Staff 

has agreed that something less than 100% compliance is satisfactory.  (Tr. 36-37.)  In 

either instance, these agreements are not subject to Commission approval.  (Tr. 37.)  

Accordingly, fairly analyzed, the level of “compliance” required before a citation order, 

with exposure to penalties, is triggered does not appear clear cut. 

APPLICABLE LAW 

 The United States Department of Transportation has promulgated the following 

rule, which the Commission has adopted by reference (83 Ill. Admin. Code Part 590): 

Sec. 192.723 Distribution systems: Leakage surveys.  
 
(a) Each operator of a distribution system shall conduct periodic 
leakage surveys in accordance with this section. … 
 
(b)(2) A leakage survey with leak detector equipment must be 
conducted outside business districts as frequently as necessary, but 
at least once every 5 calendar years at intervals not exceeding 63 
months. However, for cathodically unprotected distribution lines 
subject to Sec. 192.465(e) on which electrical surveys for corrosion 
are impractical, a leakage survey must be conducted at least once 
every 3 calendar years at intervals not exceeding 39 months.   

49 C.F.R. §192.723.  The first sentence of Section 192.723(b)(2) is the rule that is the 

subject of this proceeding.   

Section 7(a) of the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act (the “Pipeline Act”) makes 

local gas distribution companies subject to a civil penalty for violations of Section 6(a) of 
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the Pipeline Act.  Section 6(a)(1) requires compliance with safety standards.  The amount 

of the civil penalty is capped at $1 million.  49 USC 60122(a)(1); 220 ILCS 20/7(a). 

Section 7(b) of the Pipeline Act describes the criteria that the Commission must 

consider in determining whether to assess a civil penalty for a violation of the Pipeline 

Act.  This section, in relevant part, states: “the Commission shall consider the 

appropriateness of the penalty to the size of the business of the person charged, the 

gravity of the violation, and the good faith of the person charged in attempting to achieve 

compliance, after notification of a violation.”  220 ILCS 20/7(b).   

ARGUMENT 

The $1 Million Penalty Sought by Staff Is Excessive and Unjustified Because the 
Public Safety Concerns Raised by Technical Non-Compliance Are Minimal and 
Peoples Gas’ Ever Increasing Efforts to Perform the ISIs Demonstrate its Good 
Faith 
  

A. Peoples Gas’ Good Faith Conduct Militates Against  
the Requested $1 Million Penalty 
 

The record demonstrates that after being notified by Staff in December, 1999 that 

it was not in compliance with inside inspection requirements, Peoples Gas acted in good 

faith to achieve compliance.  While Staff focuses solely upon Peoples Gas’ initial results, 

this fails to acknowledge Peoples Gas’ devotion of significant effort and resources to the 

performance of ISIs and the success that ultimately was achieved.   

Moreover, under Section 7(b) of the Pipeline Act, 220 ILCS 20/7(b), the 

evaluation of a utility’s good faith must be based upon the utility’s “attempt” to achieve 

compliance -- not just the results.  Here, the record shows Peoples Gas’ constant and 

earnest effort to comply with Section 192.723(b)(2) by refining and evolving its methods 
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of gaining access to customers’ premises and increasing its resources devoted to 

achieving this goal.  This demonstrates good faith.   

There can be no dispute that to achieve compliance with Section 192.723(b)(2), a 

utility must gain access to its customers’ premises.  This is a factor that any public utility, 

including Peoples Gas, cannot control.  The record evidence shows that upon notification 

of the violation in 2000 and continuing to the present, Peoples Gas has tried a variety of 

methods, in different combinations, to obtain the necessary access to its customers’ 

homes.  Over these years, Peoples Gas has evaluated its efforts, abandoned those that 

were ineffective, and continually developed new approaches to improve its results.  (See 

Resp. Ex. C at 3-7.)   

Through this evolving effort, Peoples Gas ultimately was able to obtain access to 

all but its most recalcitrant customers. This is demonstrated by the de minimis number of 

ISIs that should be outstanding at the end of calendar year 2005.  Of the 364,970 

customers with inside meters, only 10,000 are expected to have outstanding ISIs.  This is 

2.7%. Given that 100% compliance at a particular time is impractical because some 

customers never allow access to their homes no matter how many times and how many 

ways Peoples Gas tries, Peoples Gas should be deemed in compliance with Section 

192.723(b)(2).  The only way that Peoples Gas even could attempt 100% compliance 

would be to disconnect service for failure to allow an ISI, which Peoples Gas has begun 

but, according to Staff, should be limited to warm weather months.     

In sum, the record is replete with evidence of Peoples Gas’ good faith in 

attempting to achieve compliance with ISI requirements since being notified in December 

1999 of a violation.  After experiencing a disappointing result of 20,676 completed ISIs 
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in 2002, Peoples Gas modified its efforts and in 2003 achieved a modest gain to 25,165 

completed ISIs.  Since 2003, completed ISIs have more than doubled each year.  In 2004, 

52,297 ISIs were completed and in 2005 at least 116,900 ISIs were completed.  Peoples 

Gas’ accomplishment of practical compliance in 2005 was the continuation of a trend that 

began years earlier as a result of its improving methods of gaining access.  Accordingly, 

no civil penalty should be imposed. 

B. The Gravity of the Harm Does Not Support a $1 Million Penalty 

 The record evidence demonstrates that while the performance of legally mandated 

ISIs aids risk management by adding a layer of protection against potential safety threats 

(see Tr. 45-48), Peoples Gas’ inability to complete every one of its due and past due ISIs 

did not create an actual safety threat for its customers.  Significantly, ISIs are only one 

component of maintaining a safe distribution system. Given that these inspections cover 

only a fraction of customers’ inside piping, which typically is not the source of major gas 

leaks because they are not exposed to corrosive elements, ISIs likely are the least 

important or effective means of ensuring gas pipe safety.  (Resp. Ex. C at 2-3.) 5

 Indeed, of the hundreds of thousands of ISIs that Peoples Gas has performed since 

January 2000, evidence of gas leaks were found in less than 0.6%.  Most of those were 

minor, requiring detection by highly sensitive equipment.  (Resp. Ex. B at 2.)  Moreover, 

because odorant is added to the gas, customers typically detect even small leaks by smell 

and call Peoples Gas’ emergency number without the benefit of an ISI.  In the past five 

years, Peoples Gas has responded to over 338,000 such calls.  (Id. at 2-3.)  Accordingly, 

                                            
5 Regarding the federal inspection requirements for the outside portion of all service pipes and meters, 
which is more integral to safety, Peoples Gas is in compliance.  (Resp. Ex. A at 3.) 
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Staff’s suggestion that customers were placed in grave harm or jeopardy solely because 

Peoples Gas was unable to complete all of its outstanding ISIs is baseless.   

 Consistent with the minimal safety risk if ISIs are not performed on Section 

192.723(b)(2)’s timetable, at the hearing Staff witness Mr. Evans acknowledged that the 

failure to complete an ISI is not an actual safety threat; that a gas leak is not discovered 

because an ISI was not performed is a potential harm.  (See Tr. 45-48.)  Given the limited 

possibility that the inside pipes will be the cause of a gas leak and, if they are the 

customer likely will smell it, this potential harm is more theoretical than real.  

    Presumably in recognition of this limited risk, Mr. Evans testified that he does not 

recommend that Peoples Gas discontinue customers’ service for failure to allow ISIs all 

year round.   Rather, he believes that disconnection only should be used in the summer 

months.  (Tr. 47-48.)  Mr. Evans’ recommendation demonstrates that the failure to 

perform an ISI is not an actual safety threat.  If it were, he would recommend 

disconnection regardless of the time of year.  (Tr. 45; see also 83 Ill. Admin. Code § 

280.130(k) (allowing discontinuance of service at any time for reasons of safety or 

health).) 

 Peoples Gas’ witness Mr. Doerk, an engineer with 27 years of experience in the 

gas industry, is correct.  Leaks uncovered by ISIs present little or no risk to residents of 

buildings where leaks are found and ISIs do not significantly reduce customer risk to 

inside gas piping leaks.  (Resp. Ex. C at 1-2.)  Mr. Doerk’s view is supported by the two 

reported decisions from other jurisdictions that address inside inspections. 

At the hearing, Staff witness Mr. Evans expressed familiarity with a Michigan 

case where a utility sought a partial waiver of the Michigan Gas Safety Standards as they 
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applied to the requirement concerning leakage surveys.  In that Michigan case, In re 

Consumers Energy Company, 2002 WL 31501335 (Mich. P.S.C.) September 16, 2002,  

the parties agreed that: (a) atmospheric corrosion leaks are not likely to occur where the 

atmosphere is not corrosive as is generally the case inside a residence, (b) if there are 

leaks as a result of atmospheric corrosion, those leaks usually start at microscopic pipe 

wall openings and are detectable at low enough levels to avoid risk to the public, and (c) 

the atmospheric corrosion rate is very low or non-existent for the portion of each service 

line between the inside wall of a residence and the meter location.  As a result, the 

Michigan Public Service Commission granted the partial waiver, concluding that it was 

not inconsistent with gas pipeline safety.   This decision to grant the partial waiver is 

consistent with Peoples Gas’ position that ISIs are not integral to pipeline safety.   

The other decision, from Massachusetts, also supports Peoples Gas’ position that 

the failure to comply precisely with Section 192.723(b)(2)’s timetable does not create an 

actual safety risk.  In Re Revisions Regulations Governing the Procedures Relating to the 

Inactivation, Abandonment and Leakage Survey of Gas Service Lines, 1994 WL 711411 

(Mass. D.P.U.) September 29, 1994, the Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities 

(the “Department”) raised issues concerning the practicality of compliance with state 

regulations involving, inter alia, residential leakage surveys. The Department noted that 

because many residences are vacant during business hours and customers’ concerns for 

personal safety prevent calls after business hours, operators find inside portions of service 

lines inaccessible.   As a result, operators have found it difficult to establish a systematic 

cost-effective method to gain entry to residences to survey inside piping for leakage.   
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Based upon these practical problems, the Department recognized that insistence 

upon strict compliance with Section 192.723(b)(2) “may impose a burden on operators 

that is not justified by any significant increment in safety.”  (Emphasis added).  This 

recognition was based upon the Department’s understanding that: (a) most gas leaks in 

service lines occur in the segment located between the main and the outer surface of the 

building wall where the service line is more susceptible to corrosive elements, (b) most 

operators encounter little, if any, difficulty in complying with the leakage survey 

requirements for those outside segments, (c) the small segment of a service line in a 

structure generally does not appear to be appeared to the same corrosive elements, and 

(d) the remaining portion of piping, which is customer-owned, is not required by 

regulation to be leak surveyed unless a customer reports a leak.6   

Based on the record evidence and the persuasive findings of the Michigan and 

Massachusetts public utility commissions, any harm or threat caused by Peoples Gas’ 

inability to complete ISIs under Section 192.723(b)(2)’s timetable is, at worst, minimal.  

Accordingly, the lack of the gravity of the harm supports that no civil penalty be 

imposed.   

C.   To Impose a $1 Million Penalty Would be Unprecedented and Unfair 

It is undisputed that the present citation is unique.  Initially, the record evidence 

was that, in Illinois, only Peoples Gas and Nicor have a significant number of inside 

meters.  And Nicor has nearly one-third fewer inside meters than Peoples Gas. (Tr. 41-
                                            
6 Given the limited safety risk involving ISIs and the operational inefficiencies caused by the high rate of 
inaccessibility to residential buildings even with prior notification, subject to Department of Transportation 
approval, the Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities initially went so far as to propose the 
elimination of Section 192.723(b)(2)’s requirement that 20% of all inside pipes be inspected annually.  
Based upon the public comments received, the Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities subsequently 
decided to reserve judgment upon this regulation pending further study.  See Re Revisions of the Present 
Regulation 220 C.M.R. §107, 1995 WL 125607 (Mass. D.P.U.) February 27, 1995.   
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42.)  As Staff witness Mr. Evans testified, “there is no precedent for violations of this 

nature.”  (Tr. 41-42; ICC Staff Ex. 1.0 at 7.)    

Indeed, In Central Illinois Light Company, Docket 94-0040, 158 P.U.R.4th 1, 

1994 WL 747589 (Ill. C.C.), a Central Illinois Light Company (“CILCO”) rate case, the 

evidence showed that the company engaged in a systematic course of conduct intended to 

underreport the number and severity of gas leaks occurring on a cast iron distribution 

system.  Based upon this evidence, the Commission found that CILCO’s conduct was a 

substantial threat to public safety and made an adjustment to CILCO’s rate base.  Unlike 

the present case, Staff never issued a citation order or sought a monetary civil penalty 

from CILCO based upon its course of conduct that was far more egregious than that at 

issue here.    

Given the uniqueness of this proceeding, the Commission never has imposed a 

civil penalty under Section 192.723(b)(2) based upon a utility’s failure to conduct the 

requisite number of ISIs.  As a result, the Commission never has opined upon the 

circumstances under which a penalty should be imposed or how a penalty should be 

calculated.  Moreover, the uniqueness of this proceeding is not limited to Illinois. As 

Staff witness Mr. Evans testified, to his knowledge there is no comparable case in the 

entire country involving inside meters.  (Tr. 43, 48-49).7             

Here, Staff seeks the maximum penalty of $1 million.  This is unnecessary.   

Peoples Gas now essentially is compliant with Section 192.723(b)(2).  To achieve this 

level of compliance, Peoples Gas had to resort to threats of disconnection, a step that, as a 

public utility, it was reluctant to take.  Further, there was objection to threatened 

                                            
7 At the November 8, 2005 hearing, Staff witness Mr. Evans confirmed that part of his duties and 
responsibilities is to keep track of information regarding such proceedings.  (Tr. 49.)  
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disconnection, as well as the position of Staff’s witness that disconnection only should be 

done in the summer months.   

Moreover, assuming, arguendo, that a penalty should be imposed, the maximum 

$1 million penalty sought by Staff is excessive because it far outweighs any minimal 

safety concern.  Under these circumstances, there should be little doubt that the 

imposition of the $1 million maximum, or any substantial penalty, is purely punitive.  To 

do this would be inconsistent with a more reasoned approach to civil penalties, which is 

as a tool to achieve compliance – not as a punishment after compliance has been 

achieved.            

CONCLUSION 

 For each of the reasons set forth above, either independently or in combination, 

The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company urges that the Commission find that the 

Company has acted in good faith to comply with the requirements of federal and state 

law to perform inside safety inspections and that no civil penalty is merited in this 

proceeding. 

WHEREFORE, The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company respectfully submits 

its Initial Brief in this proceeding. 

  Respectfully submitted, 

 The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company 
 
      By:            /S/ MICHAEL A. FICARO  
                 Michael A. Ficaro  
       An Attorney for 

 The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company 
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Michael A. Ficaro (maficaro@uhlaw.com) (312-977-4200) 
Susan G. Feibus (sgfeibus@uhlaw.com) (312-977-4877) 
Theodore T. Eidukas (tteidukas@uhlaw.com) (312-977-4863) 
Ungaretti & Harris LLP 
3500 Three First National Plaza 
Chicago, Illinois 60602 
facsimile:  (312) 977-4405 
 
Attorneys for 
The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company 

Gerard T. Fox 
Vice President and Deputy General Counsel 
The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company 
130 East Randolph Drive 
20th Floor 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
telephone:  (312) 240-4341 
facsimile:  (312) 240-4812 
e-mail:  gtfox@pecorp.com 
 
Mary Klyasheff 
Assistant General Counsel 
The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company 
130 East Randolph Drive 
20th Floor 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
telephone:  (312) 240-4470 
facsimile:  (312) 240-4812 
e-mail:  m.klyasheff@pecorp.com 
 
Dated at Chicago this  
9th day of December, 2005 
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STATE OF ILLINOIS 
 

ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION 
 
 
Illinois Commerce Commission   ) 
On Its Own Motion     ) 

v.      ) 
The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company  ) 05-0341 
       ) 
Citation for alleged violation of Commission  ) 
rules regarding leakage surveys.   ) 
   

NOTICE OF FILING AND CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
To: Service List 
 
 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on this 9th day of December, 2005, I have filed 
with the Chief Clerk of the Illinois Commerce Commission the Initial Brief of The 
Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company, a copy of which is hereby served upon you by e-
mail and/or United States Mail on December 9, 2005. 
 

 The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company 
 
      By:            /S/ THEODORE T. EIDUKAS  
       Theodore T. Eidukas 
       An Attorney for 
                    The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company 

 
Michael A. Ficaro (maficaro@uhlaw.com) (312-977-4200) 
Susan G. Feibus (sgfeibus@uhlaw.com) (312-977-4877) 
Theodore T. Eidukas (tteidukas@uhlaw.com) (312-977-4863) 
Ungaretti & Harris LLP 
3500 Three First National Plaza 
Chicago, Illinois 60602 
facsimile:  (312) 977-4405 
 
Attorneys for The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company 
 
Gerard T. Fox 
Vice President and Deputy General Counsel 
The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company 
130 East Randolph Drive 
20th Floor 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
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Mary Klyasheff 
Assistant General Counsel 
The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company 
130 East Randolph Drive 
20th Floor 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
 
 
Dated at Chicago this  
9th day of December, 2005 
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